

MAGNESIUM

RESEARCH LITERATURE REVIEW









CONTENTS

Magnesium Research Literature Review: When You Want Effective Magnesium for Your Patients	5
Magnesium Absorption and Bioavailability: The Optimal Form of Delivery is Glycine Chelation	5
Deficiency	6
Dietary Sources of Magnesium	6
Prevelance of Magnesium Deficiency	6
Recommended Daily Intakes Rarely Achieved	6
Common Drugs and Alcohol Increase Magnesium Requirements	7
Magnesium Homoeostasis: Distribution in the Body	7
Magnesium Stores Slow to Mobilise	7
Why is Magnesium So Important? In a Word: Energy	8
The Oxidative Energy System	8
Insulin Resistance	8
Nutritional Cofactors Involved in Improving Insulin Sensitivity	8
Calcium Regulation	9
Specific Studies on the Activity of Magnesium and Associated Cofactors	10
Stress	10
Anxiety/Neurosis	10
Panic Disorder	10
Premenstrual Syndrome	11
PMS Characterised by Cellular Magnesium Deficiency	11
Magnesium Supplementation Relieves Premenstrual Mood Changes	11
Magnesium Reduces the Premenstrual Symptoms of Fluid Retention	11
The Combination of Magnesium and Vitamin B₀ Shows Best Results	11
Magnesium Beneficial in Dysmenorrhoea	12
Calcium Dysregulation Implicated in PMS	12

nfertility	12
Pregnancy	13
Magnesium Supplementation in Pregnancy is Essential	13
Magnesium Reduces Pregnancy Complications	13
Leg Cramps	13
Eclampsia and Pre-Eclampsia	13
Pre-term Birth	13
Osteoporosis	14
Cardiovascular Disease	14
Hypertension	14
Clinical Hypotensive Effects of Magnesium Therapy	14
Effects of Taurine and Glutamine	14
Effects of Antihypertensive Medication on Magnesium	14
Arrhythmia	15
Magnesium and Potassium Regulation	15
Vasospasm	15
Type-A Behaviour and Coronary Vasospasm	15
Angina	16
Clinical Trials of Magnesium Diglycinate and Angina	16
Myocardial Infarction	16
Magnesium Protects Against MI	16
Infarct Size Reduced by Magnesium	16
Mitral Valve Prolapse	16
Blood Lipids	17
Clinical Trials on Magnesium and Blood Lipids	17
Benefits to Blood Pressure and the Blood Lipid Profile	17
Coronary Heart Disease/Atherosclerosis	18
Antioxidant Activity	18
Thromhosis	18

Muscular Aches, Pains, Cramps, Spasms and Stiffness	19
Magnesium Controls Tetanic Muscle Spasms	19
Improvement of Spasticity in MS	19
Athletics	19
Improves Athletic Performance	19
Reduces the Effects of Exercise-Induced Physiological Stress in Triathletes	19
Improves Strength Gains From Weight Training	20
Headaches	21
Tension Headaches	21
Migraines	21
Magnesium Reduces Frequency, Duration and Intensity of Migraines	21
Fibromyalgia	22
Clinical Trials of Magnesium in Fibromyalgia	22
Chronic Fatigue Syndrome	22
Alcohol Consumption	23
Magnesium Replacement Important For Alcohol Consumers	23
Metal Toxicity	23
Protects Against DNA Damage and Carcinogenesis From Toxic Metals	23
Appendix	24
References	30
Notes	35

MAGNESIUM RESEARCH LITERATURE REVIEW

When You Want Effective Magnesium For Your Patients

Magnesium is an essential mineral, being the fourth most abundant cation in the body (after sodium, potassium and calcium) and the second most abundant intracellular cation after potassium. It is required in the biological function of at least 360 enzymes in the human body, and plays a fundamental role in many cell functions. These functions include: Energy transfer, storage, and use; protein, carbohydrate, and fat metabolism; maintenance of normal cell membrane function and the regulation of parathyroid hormone secretion. Systemically, magnesium lowers blood pressure and alters peripheral vascular resistance. Abnormalities of magnesium levels can result in disturbances in nearly every organ system, and can cause potentially fatal complications (e.g. ventricular arrhythmia, coronary artery vasospasm and sudden death from myocardial infarction).

MAGNESIUM ABSORPTION AND BIOAVAILABILITY: THE OPTIMAL FORM OF DELIVERY IS GLYCINE CHELATION

lonically bound magnesium salts such as the chloride (MgCl), sulphate (MgSO₄) and oxide (MgO), and complexed forms like aspartate and orotate, all dissociate in solution to release magnesium ions and are known to induce bowel evacuation when taken in therapeutic doses.

A covalently bound magnesium-glycine chelate is not hydrolysed by digestive processes, nor does it dissociate in solution. This form of magnesium is readily absorbed as an amino acid complex, to provide rapid serum delivery while remaining intact. The intact chelate does not release magnesium, which would be bound to blood proteins and further reduce bioavailability. Rather, there is direct cellular uptake, again as an amino acid chelate, and release of the magnesium ion inside the cell due to lysosomal cleavage of the glycine residues.

The magnesium-glycine chelate (magnesium diglycinate) is a significant advance in magnesium supplementation technology, enabling the administration of therapeutic levels of oral magnesium supplementation which do not cause gastrointestinal upset and diarrhoea.¹

In the 'Mauskop and Altura' study on migraine prophylaxis, it was found that magnesium diglycinate is "one of the better absorbed preparations". Their recommendation was based on a daily supplement of 600 mg of magnesium diglycinate. There is a large amount of experimental and clinical data that supports the use of this therapy and shows that 600 mg of magnesium has an excellent safety profile and a low cost profile. 133

DEFICIENCY

Dietary magnesium deficiency is far more prevalent than is generally suspected. It can impact on many biochemical processes and be expressed via a diverse range of clinical symptoms and signs:

- Fatigue (insulin resistance) [p.8-9]
 - Diets high in fat, sugar, and salt
- Stress, anxiety, panic disorder, dementia, epilepsy [p.10]
- Pre-menstrual syndrome (PMS) [p.11-12], Infertility [p.12], Pregnancy [p.13], Pre-Eclampsia [p.13], Osteoporosis [p.14]
- Cardiovascular Diseases:
 - o Hypertension [p.14]
 - Vasospasm [p.15]
 - Myocardial Infarction [p.16]
 - Elevated blood lipids [p.17]
 - o Thrombosis [p.18]

- o Arrhythmia [p.15]
- o Angina [p.16]
- Mitral Valve Prolapse [p.16]
- Coronary Heart Disease [p.18]

- Neuromuscular conditions:
 - Muscle Cramping and Spasms [p.19]
 - Athletic Performance [p.19-20]
 - Tension Headaches and Migraines [p.21]
- Fibromyalgia [p.22]
- Chronic Fatigue Syndrome [p.22]
- Toxicity: Alcohol and Toxic Metals [p.23]

Dietary Sources of Magnesium

Magnesium is ubiquitous in nature and is especially plentiful in green vegetables, grain, nuts, legumes, and chocolate. Vegetables, fruits, meats, and fish have intermediate values. Food processing and cooking may deplete magnesium content, thus accounting for the apparently high percentage of the population whose magnesium intake is less than the recommended daily intake.

Prevalence of Magnesium Deficiency

A CSIRO study of Australian adults found the daily intake of magnesium was below the RDI for 50% of all males tested, and for 39% of all females. In the United States deficiencies appear to be even more common. Approximately 80 to 85% of the adult females and 50 to 65% of the adult males had intakes below the USA recommended levels.9

Recommended Daily Intakes Rarely Achieved

The recommended daily intake (RDI) of magnesium in Australia is currently 320 mg per day for men and 270 mg per day for women. Pregnant and lactating women are considered to require an extra 30 and 70 mg per day respectively. The average Western diet is theoretically estimated to deliver about 360 mg of magnesium daily. It is questionable though, whether the RDI is actually achievable with a modern Australian diet, or if it is sufficient for a neutral magnesium balance.

Current research indicates that in most Western countries a sufficient magnesium supply is difficult to achieve, particularly in view of the increased demand for magnesium associated with common diets and lifestyles. Environmental factors such as soil quality, agricultural practices and air pollution also affect the magnesium content of the food supply.

Common Drugs and Alcohol Increase Magnesium Requirements

Alcohol consumption has a dramatic effect on magnesium levels, resulting in urinary excretion,² which induces magnesium deficiency.³ This deficiency, in turn, contributes to many of the problems associated with chronic alcoholism.^{4,5,6}

Many pharmaceutical medications increase magnesium requirements. Aminoglycosides (e.g. Gentamycin) may reduce magnesium absorption, as will loop and thiazide diuretics. Tetracycline antibiotics form insoluble complexes with magnesium, reducing the effectiveness of both the magnesium and the drug.

Magnesium may also interfere with some medications. It is possible that it could enhance the effect of calcium channel blockers (which may be desirable) and anti-arrythmic drugs.⁷

Magnesium Homeostasis: Distribution in the Body

The total body magnesium content of an average adult is around 25 g. Approximately 60% is present in bone, 20% in muscle, and 20% in soft tissue and the liver. Approximately 99% of the total body magnesium is intracellular, with only 1% in the extracellular space.

Magnesium Stores Slow to Mobilise

The plasma magnesium concentration is kept within narrow limits. Extracellular magnesium is in equilibrium with that in the bone, kidneys, intestine, and other soft tissues. In contrast to other ions, magnesium is treated differently in two major respects: (1) no hormonal modulation of urinary magnesium excretion occurs, and (2) bone, the principal reservoir of magnesium, does not readily exchange with circulating magnesium in the extracellular fluid space. This inability to mobilise magnesium stores means that in states of negative magnesium balance, initial losses come from the extracellular space; equilibrium with bone stores does not begin for several weeks. Effectively, this means our day-to-day supply of magnesium is dependent on the diet, and/or magnesium supplementation.

WHY IS MAGNESIUM SO IMPORTANT? IN A WORD: ENERGY

Fatigue is the most commonly reported complaint in clinic today. It is no coincidence that it is estimated that almost everyone is, to some degree, magnesium deficient.

Every cell in the body needs energy to function. Without sufficient energy the cell will not only fail to do its job, it will die. The major form of biological energy powering cellular metabolism is adenosine triphosphate (ATP). No matter how this energy is produced - whether via the immediate, non-oxidative or oxidative pathway – magnesium is absolutely essential.

The immediate energy system consists of:

- 1. Existing ATP, which can only sustain muscle contraction for less than a second
- 2. The formation of ATP from adenosine diphosphate (ADP) and inorganic phosphate, requiring the enzyme myokinase, which needs magnesium for its activity.
- 3. The production of ATP from ADP and creatine phosphate, which is mediated by creatine phosphokinase, an enzyme regulated by magnesium and hydrogen ions.

In the **non-oxidative**, **or glycolytic**, **energy system**, carbohydrates fuel anaerobic glycolytic reactions in the cytosol, converting glucose to pyruvate to produce ATP. Magnesium is a key component of many of the enzymes in this pathway.¹⁰

The Oxidative Energy System

In the presence of oxygen, the pyruvate from glycolysis is further converted to acetyl CoA, which powers the aerobic metabolism in the mitochondria – the citric acid, or Krebs cycle. magnesium is the key catalyst for the multi-enzyme regulatory switch between anaerobic and aerobic energy systems.

The citric acid cycle occurs within the mitochondrial matrix, and metabolises acetyl CoA to carbon dioxide. The first four reactions of this cycle are catalysed by isocitrate dehydrogenase, which requires magnesium for its activity. In the mitochondrial electron transport chain, ATP production is mediated by ATPase complexes, which also require magnesium to function.

All energy for muscle contraction comes from the hydrolysis of ATP, which is again mediated by magnesium-dependent ATPase.¹¹

Insulin Resistance

A poor intracellular magnesium concentration, as found in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM) and in hypertensive patients, may result in a defective tyrosine-kinase activity at the insulin receptor level and exaggerated intracellular calcium concentration. Both events are responsible for the impairment in insulin action and a worsening of insulin resistance. A growing body of studies suggest that intracellular magnesium may play a key role in modulating insulin-mediated glucose uptake and vascular tone. ¹² Insulin sensitivity can be improved by reduction of excessive body weight, regular physical activity and by correcting a subclinical magnesium deficiency. ¹³

Nutritional Cofactors Involved in Improving Insulin Sensitivity

Insulin resistance appears to be a common feature and a possible contributing factor to several frequent health problems, including Type-2 diabetes mellitus, polycystic ovary disease, dyslipidemia, hypertension, cardiovascular disease, sleep apnoea, certain hormone-sensitive cancers, and obesity. Minerals such as magnesium, calcium, potassium, zinc, chromium, and vanadium appear to have associations with insulin resistance or its management. Amino acids, including L-carnitine, taurine, and L-arginine, might also play a role in the reversal of insulin resistance. Other nutrients, including glutathione, coenzyme Q10, and lipoic acid, also appear to have therapeutic potential.¹⁴

Calcium Regulation

Another vital action of magnesium is as a calcium channel regulator. The passage of calcium through a membrane is the physiological trigger or control for many functions: muscle contraction, nerve impulses, and many cellular secretions such as insulin, neurotransmitters, gastric acid and enzymes. Magnesium is the balancing ion, regulating and controlling the movement and activity of calcium, and is therefore a vital part of all these functions.

SPECIFIC STUDIES ON THE ACTIVITY OF MAGNESIUM AND ASSOCIATED COFACTORS

Stress

Any significant stressor has a dramatic effect on body magnesium homeostasis. Stress generates an increase in stress hormone (catecholamine) release, which initiates movement of cellular magnesium into the plasma with associated renal magnesium loss. Catecholamines also induce lipolysis, resulting in increased free fatty acid levels in blood. These fatty acids are able to bind magnesium, resulting in a further reduction in available magnesium and increased renal loss.

Complicating the magnesium depleting effect of stress, is the exaggerated release of stress hormones during magnesium deficiency. Thus, a vicious cycle can develop where stress increases cellular magnesium loss causing renal magnesium wastage, resulting in an exaggerated stress response.

A French study separated subjects into personality Types A and B. Exposure to stress of the Type-A personalities produced substantial decreases in intracellular magnesium in comparison to the Type-B subjects. The authors proposed that the dramatic magnesium depletion response to elevated stress hormones in the Type-A personalities, is a contributory factor in the higher incidence of stress-related disorders and cardiovascular disease observed in these people. ¹⁵

Anxiety/Neurosis

Magnesium modulates neuronal excitability and decreases membrane fluidity by binding phospholipids and modulating calcium release. These effects are thought to be responsible for the psychological effects of magnesium deficiency, e.g. loss of concentration, disorientation, abstract thinking and memory loss.¹⁶

Magnesium levels were studied in a population of psychiatric in-patients who were admitted with a range of conditions including schizophrenia, mania with depression and neurosis. All patients showed substantially lower magnesium levels than normal. The deviation of magnesium levels from the mean also correlated significantly with the severity of symptoms.¹⁷

Supplementation with magnesium would be expected to improve the status of psychiatric patients.

Panic Disorder

Although the pathogenesis of panic disorder is unknown, magnesium therapy offers valuable assistance in panic attacks and neuronal hyperexcitability syndrome. Magnesium supplementation has demonstrated clinically significant responses in panic disorder.

According to diagnostic criteria (DSM-III-R and MKN-10), the symptoms of panic disorder are virtually identical with those of latent tetany. A group of 20 patients treated in a psychiatric out-patient unit for panic disorder had examinations necessary for diagnosing latent tetany, including clinical neurological examination, biochemical investigation with an emphasis on the levels of serum and red blood cell magnesium, and EMG. A concomitant incidence of latent tetany with known etiology - decreased levels of intracellular magnesium - and causal treatment with magnesium salts, was found in 18 patients (90%).¹⁸

Pre-menstrual Syndrome

Inadequate intake and deficiencies in magnesium are associated with the occurrence and severity of premenstrual syndrome (PMS).¹⁹ The interaction of magnesium with oestrogen is likely to be a significant factor with respect to the pathogenesis of this common clinical problem, and prophylactic magnesium supplementation is expected to provide relief to a large proportion of these women. Magnesium supplementation has shown positive effects in women experiencing the condition.^{20,21}

PMS Characterised by Cellular Magnesium Deficiency

When plasma and erythrocyte magnesium were measured in 105 patients with PMS it was found that the erythrocyte (cellular) magnesium concentration was significantly lower than that of a normal population. The plasma magnesium did not show this difference.²² Supplementation therefore needs to target cellular uptake, which may be achieved with a diglycinate chelation of magnesium.

Magnesium Supplementation Relieves Premenstrual Mood Changes

Reduced magnesium levels have been reported in women affected by PMS. A double-blind, randomised study was used to evaluate the effects of an oral magnesium preparation on premenstrual symptoms in 32 women (24 to 39 years old) with PMS confirmed by the Moos Menstrual Distress Questionnaire. After two months of baseline recording, the subjects were randomly assigned to placebo or magnesium for two cycles. Magnesium supplementation (360 mg) or placebo was administered three times a day, from the 15th day of the menstrual cycle to the onset of menstrual flow. Magnesium treatment significantly affected both the total Menstrual Distress Questionnaire score and the cluster "negative affect." These data indicate that magnesium supplementation could represent an effective treatment of premenstrual symptoms related to mood changes. This study demonstrates the degree of intracellular magnesium deficiency in many of these patients, and the prolonged time necessary to correct cellular reserves with supplemental magnesium.²³

Magnesium Reduces the Premenstrual Symptoms of Fluid Retention

The effect of magnesium on the severity of premenstrual symptoms was investigated in a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover study. A daily supplement of 200 mg of magnesium (as MgO) or placebo was administered for two menstrual cycles to each volunteer, who kept a daily record of her symptoms, using a 4-point scale in a menstrual diary of 22 items. Symptoms were grouped into six categories: PMS-A (anxiety), PMS-C (craving), PMS-D (depression), PMS-H (hydration), PMS-O (other), and PMS-T (total overall symptoms). Analysis of variance for 38 women showed no effect of magnesium supplementation compared with placebo in any category in the first month of supplementation. However, in the second month there was a greater reduction (p = 0.009) of symptoms of PMS-H (weight gain, swelling of extremities, breast tenderness, abdominal bloating) with magnesium supplementation compared with placebo. 24

The Combination of Magnesium and Vitamin B₆ Shows Best Results

A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover design was used to investigate the single and combined effects of daily dietary supplementation with 50 mg of vitamin B_6 and/or 200 mg magnesium (as MgO) for one cycle for the relief of mild premenstrual symptoms. Forty-four women (average age 32) were randomly assigned to take consecutively all four of the following treatments daily for one menstrual cycle: (1) 200 mg magnesium, (2) 50 mg vitamin B_6 , (3) 200 mg magnesium + 50 mg vitamin B_6 and (4) placebo. Throughout the study, each volunteer kept a daily record of symptoms using a 5-point ordinal scale in a menstrual diary of 30 symptoms. Symptoms were grouped into six categories: anxiety, craving, depression, hydration, other, and total. Results showed a significant effect of the combination of 200 mg/day magnesium with 50 mg per day vitamin B_6 on reducing anxiety-related premenstrual symptoms (nervous tension, mood swings, irritability, or anxiety) (p = 0.040).²⁵

Magnesium Beneficial in Dysmenorrhoea

Fifty patients suffering from primary dysmenorrhoea were treated with magnesium in a double-blind study. After six-months, 21 out of 25 women showed a decline of symptoms. For monitoring treatment results prostaglandin F_2 alpha (PGF $_2$ alpha) was measured every second month. Magnesium-therapy achieved a reduction of PGF $_2$ alpha in menstrual blood to 45% of initial values, compared with women receiving placebo whose PGF $_2$ levels were still 90% of the initial concentration. It is likely that the specific therapeutic effects of magnesium are based not only on inhibition of biosynthesis of PGF $_2$ alpha, but also on its direct muscle relaxant and vasodilatory actions. The use of magnesium is potentially a side-effect-free natural alternative to PG-synthesis and ovulation inhibitors in the treatment of primary dysmenorrhoea.²⁶

Calcium Dysregulation Implicated in PMS

PMS afflicts millions of premenopausal women and has been described as one of the most common disorders in women. Research over the past few years suggests that a variety of nutrients may have an important role in the phase related mood and behavioral disturbances of PMS. There is scientific evidence, at least for a few of these micronutrients, specifically calcium and vitamin D, supporting cyclic fluctuations during the menstrual cycle that may help explain some features of PMS. Ovarian hormones influence calcium, magnesium and vitamin D metabolism. Estrogen regulates calcium metabolism, intestinal calcium absorption and parathyroid gene expression and secretion, triggering fluctuations across the menstrual cycle. Alterations in calcium homeostasis (hypocalcemia and hypercalcemia) have long been associated with many affective disturbances. PMS shares many features of depression, anxiety and the dysphoric states. The similarity between the symptoms of PMS and hypocalcaemia is remarkable. Clinical trials in women with PMS have found that calcium supplementation effectively alleviates the majority of mood and somatic symptoms. Evidence to date indicates that women with luteal phase symptomatology have an underlying calcium dysregulation with a secondary hyperparathyroidism and vitamin D deficiency. This strongly suggests that PMS represents the clinical manifestation of a calcium deficiency state that is unmasked following the rise of ovarian steroid hormone concentrations during the menstrual cycle.²⁷

Infertility

Magnesium deficit is associated with a wide range of complications of female and male reproductive systems. Deficiency increases infertility, and the risk of miscarriage and pre-term birth^{28,29,30} and low birthweight babies.^{31,32,33}

The essential requirement of magnesium for sex hormone production and function underlies the importance of magnesium in infertility. It is known that oestrogen receptor binding is a magnesium-dependent process³⁴ and magnesium modulates FSH binding to receptors on the ovary.³⁵ It is also known that magnesium is important in governing the rate limiting steps in DNA synthesis and mitosis.³⁶

Further, magnesium deficiency is associated with increased smooth muscle cell tone, which may reduce the patency of an otherwise normal fallopian tube.

In a study of the effects of magnesium supplementation on infertile women, all the women in the study demonstrated low red blood cell (RBC) magnesium levels, although not all subjects returned to normal even when given 600mg per day of magnesium for four months. Administration of selenium assisted the return of normal RBC magnesium levels, and all women subsequently fell pregnant within eight months of magnesium repletion.³⁷

Approximately half of all infertility cases are thought to be wholly, or in part, due to suboptimal male fertility. Magnesium is an essential factor in many of the processes of sperm production and function.

Pregnancy

Magnesium Supplementation in Pregnancy is Essential

Pregnancy induces a significant (15%) decrease of magnesium levels in the serum and myometrium. A 25% increase of magnesium excretion in urine may be the most important reason. Magnesium supplementation during pregnancy seems necessary because it improves maternal health and foetal outcome. Magnesium supplementation reduces the incidence of pre-term labour and vaginal haemorrhage. Premature delivery is significantly reduced from 8.2 to 2.8%. Intravenous magnesium application in pharmacological doses is still the therapeutic basis in pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. In gynaecology, magnesium relieves premenstrual mood changes and alleviates dysmenorrhoea.³⁸

Magnesium Reduces Pregnancy Complications

The multiplicity of actions of magnesium is clearly demonstrable in the complications of pregnancy. A double-blind study of magnesium supplementation during pregnancy found a significant reduction in complications over controls. Another study, of over 4,000 women given magnesium during prenatal care, showed a significant decrease in intrauterine growth retardation, premature labour, premature rupture of membranes and hypertensive disorders.

Leg Cramps

Leg cramps are common in pregnancy. Magnesium, because of its modulating effect on muscle cell reactivity, has demonstrated positive ameliorative effects. In a double-blind randomised placebo controlled trial to investigate leg cramps in pregnancy, it was found that otherwise healthy pregnant patients had a negative magnesium balance, which the researchers noted as typical. Oral magnesium supplementation effectively reduced leg cramps in comparison to controls, although the magnesium levels of the patients remained suboptimal after three weeks.⁴¹

Eclampsia and Pre-Eclampsia

Eclampsia remains one of the leading causes of maternal and perinatal mortality in many parts of the world. Management of eclampsia aims to stop the convulsions and prevent recurrence, control the blood pressure and correct fluid and electrolyte imbalance. Magnesium is a regulatory mineral in all of these processes, and the results of clinical trials demonstrate the potential of supplementation to avert the crisis.⁴²

Several studies indicate a low magnesium intake or tissue store to be associated with a greater risk of developing pre-eclampsia.⁴³ Favourable results have been reported in 80% of 3,000 women given 200 mg per day magnesium for prophylaxis of pre-eclampsia while they were pregnant. The supplementation resulted in a marked reduction in pre-eclamptic episodes in patients taking prophylactic magnesium.⁴⁴

Pre-Term Birth

The uterine antispasmodic property of magnesium and the prevalence of its deficiency underlies the importance of supplementation during pregnancy, especially in those women at risk of early delivery. ⁴⁵ Magnesium is currently being used successfully either with tocolytic therapy, or alone, to prevent premature uterine contractions and pre-term births. ⁴⁶ A study comparing the amount of fenoterol (a uterine antispasmodic) required either alone or in combination with magnesium in pre-term mothers, found that the dosage could be reduced by 50%. ⁴⁷

In a double-blind trial of 255 expectant mothers randomly selected to receive 300 mg per day prophylactic magnesium from diagnosis of pregnancy to delivery, pre-term delivery rate was significantly lower in the supplemental versus the control group.⁴⁸

Osteoporosis

Bone tissue is acutely dependent on magnesium for normal metabolic growth and development. Under magnesium deficiency all phases of bone metabolism, including osteoblast activity, bone formation and fragility, as well as bone response to parathyroid hormone and vitamin D have been altered, and the risk of osteoporosis and/or osteomalacia is high.⁴⁹

Research suggests that magnesium is at least as important as calcium in osteoporosis, because calcium absorption and utilisation require magnesium. 50,51,52,53,54,55,56,57

In animal models, magnesium deficiency clearly results in osteoporosis,⁵⁸ whereas calcium deficiency generates osteomalacia.⁵⁹

Several studies have also shown that a high magnesium/calcium ratio in the diet of normal women is associated with a greater mean bone density.^{60,61,62} The only studies to show a positive effect of calcium alone on post-menopausal bone density were of women consuming less than 400 mg of calcium in their daily diet.⁶³

Cardiovascular Disease

HYPERTENSION

Clinical Hypotensive Effects of Magnesium Therapy

A large range of processes are affected by magnesium with respect to blood pressure regulation, so it is not surprising that magnesium supplementation has demonstrated substantial reductions in blood pressure in subjects with mild to severe hypertension.^{64,65,66} Furthermore, low magnesium levels are associated with increased risk of hypertension.⁶⁷

A double-blind placebo controlled crossover study found a dose dependent effect of magnesium on hypertension. The nine week study trialled 15 mmol magnesium per day for three weeks, followed by 30 mmol mg per day for another three weeks, and 40 mmol magnesium per day for the final three weeks. A significant decrease in the mean systolic blood pressure was recorded, from 154 mm Hg to 146 mm Hg and the mean diastolic blood pressure decreased from 110.2 mm Hg to 92 mm Hg.⁶⁸

In a Dutch study, 91 elderly women with mild to moderate hypertension, and who were not on medication, were trialled with 20 mmol magnesium per day or placebo for six months. The magnesium was well tolerated and resulted in a 2.7 mm Hg mean reduction in systolic, and a 3.4 mm Hg drop in diastolic blood pressure over the placebo.⁶⁹

A Japanese study found that magnesium lowered blood pressure in patients with mild to moderate essential hypertension. Subjects were given 600 mg elemental magnesium daily for two weeks. Supplementation elicited a significant fall in mean diastolic blood pressure from a baseline of 104.3mm Hg to 99.5mm Hg.⁷⁰

Effects of Taurine and Glutamine

Taurine's role as a neurotransmitter may be the mechanism whereby it can influence blood pressure. A similar process may exist for glutamine - as a precursor to GABA. Both these were analysed in a trial with hypertensive rats. Taurine and GABA both resulted in blood pressure reduction in hypertensive rats.⁷¹

Effect of Antihypertensive Medication on Magnesium

Interestingly, antihypertensive therapy and diuretics often contribute to the common magnesium deficiency seen in hypertensive patients. Supplementation with oral magnesium appears to both reduce the high blood pressure and, subsequently, the requirement for these antihypertensive/magnesium depleting treatments.⁷²

ARRYTHMIA

Low magnesium status is now well recognised as an electrolyte abnormality that relates to cardiac arrhythmia, ventricular tachyarrhythmia and sudden cardiac death.⁷³ Some reports have demonstrated significant anti-arrhythmic effects of magnesium which are not associated with low serum levels of magnesium.^{74,75}

The effect of magnesium on supraventricular arrhythmias was evaluated and compared to a calcium antagonist (verapamil) in a randomised blind study. The efficacy of magnesium for conversion to sinus rhythm was at least as effective as verapamil, and its action more rapid. No side-effects were noted with magnesium, whereas six patients receiving verapamil had to be withdrawn from the study due to symptomatic side-effects (hypotension in three, cardiac failure in three).⁷⁶

Magnesium and Potassium Regulation

Magnesium appears to be an important ionic regulator at the cellular membrane. In patients with low potassium, normal levels cannot be restored without magnesium repletion and often magnesium supplementation alone is effective in restoring potassium levels.^{77,78} The effect of magnesium on potassium and calcium regulation is thought to mediate the anti-arrhythmic ability of magnesium.

VASOSPASM

Coronary vasospasm appears to be a significant contributor to anginal symptoms and cardiac ischaemia. Considering the effect of magnesium deficiency on smooth muscle irritability, it is likely that magnesium deficiency predisposes to spasms of coronary vessels.

This was demonstrated in a study of 264 patients with mild coronary sclerosis who underwent detailed coronary angiography to determine the effect of magnesium on acute myocardial infarction and angina. Provocative testing for coronary vasospasm using acetylcholine demonstrated a protective effect of magnesium. Magnesium loading testing demonstrated that magnesium deficiency induces abnormal lipid metabolism, which is a promoter of coronary lesions and increases coronary vasospasm. The researchers commented on the possibility that vasospasm may promote coronary lesions by disrupting blood flow characteristics in the vessels.⁷⁹

The authors concluded that the results of this study could be taken as the pathological relationship between coronary artery disease and magnesium.

Magnesium deficiency is an important and poorly recognised risk factor for heart disease which requires more clinical attention. A state of magnesium deficiency can be inferred in our society and is a strong contributor to the high mortality associated with cardiovascular pathology.

Type-A Behaviour and Coronary Vasospasm

Epidemiological evidence and animal studies have implicated dietary magnesium deficiency in ischaemic heart disease. It has been found that blood vessels, deficient with respect to extracellular magnesium, undergo sustained increases in basal tone, and exhibit increased constriction to circulating vasoactive agents, brought about by an augmented influx of ionised calcium. Other studies have shown that the coronary vasculature is especially sensitive to magnesium deficiency. Type-A behavior is by definition a personality characterised to be in a state of more or less constant self-induced stress. Plasma free fatty acid levels are known to be increased by all types of stress. This in turn has been recently demonstrated to reduce free ionised levels of magnesium in the blood. It is proposed that Type-A behavior is compatible with an intermittent virtual magnesium deficiency which could lead to coronary vasospasm, ischemia and eventually heart tissue necrosis.⁸⁰

ANGINA

The pain of angina is due to ischaemia in the cardiac muscle. The blood supply to the heart muscle through the coronary vessels is obviously inadequate and this may be due to atheroma, thrombosis or vasospasm, all of which are affected by magnesium status.

Clinical Trial of Magnesium Diglycinate and Angina

Research on magnesium diglycinate has demonstrated remarkable effects on angina pain. Sanvad, et al, studied patients with angina pectoralis to determine the effect of magnesium diglycinate on myocardial performance and requirement or nitroglycerine. Patients receiving 50 mg/day magnesium experienced a 25% increase in myocardial performance. Controls required an average of 29% more nitroglycerin to fend off anginal attacks through the trial.⁸¹

MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION

Cardiac ischaemia and reperfusion are responsible for myocardial tissue damage during, and immediately after myocardial infarction (MI).

Magnesium Protects Against MI

Several trials have demonstrated a protective effect of magnesium against heart muscle injury due to myocardial infarct and they also show a reduction in subsequent mortality in those patients receiving magnesium.^{82,83,84,85} Levels of magnesium and zinc are notably reduced in patients experiencing MI.⁸⁶

The Leicester Intravenous Magnesium Trial ("LIMIT-2"), a double-blind, placebo controlled study, was undertaken by randomising 2,316 patients with suspect acute myocardial infarction. The 28 day mortality from all causes showed a 24 % reduction in the magnesium group. There was also a 25% reduction in the incidence of heart failure, a benefit conferred equally on thrombolysed and non-thrombolysed patients. The effects of magnesium sulphate therapy on early mortality is reported to be comparable to, but independent of, thrombolytic therapy.⁸⁷

The effects on the myocardium of myocardial infarct patients receiving magnesium are multiple. ^{88,89} They include a reduction in afterload by decreasing vascular resistance, improving coronary blood flow, protection of mitochondria against calcium influx, and inhibition of postinfarctional dysrhythmias.

Infarct Size Reduced by Magnesium

The size of infarction also appears to be strongly influenced by magnesium supplementation. Two recent studies performed on porcine models demonstrated a significant reduction in infarct size. 90,91

Prophylactic administration of magnesium in high risk individuals is expected to provide significant protection against myocardial infarction.

MITRAL VALVE PROLAPSE

Several researchers have documented an association between magnesium deficiency and the incidence of mitral valve prolapse (MVP).^{92,93}

In a prospective study of 94 patients with MVP, 59 (62.7%) were found to have low erythrocyte magnesium while only 35 (37.3%) had normal levels. The deficient patients were also noted to experience more muscle cramps and migraines. Forty-one of the 59 hypomagnesaemic patients were assigned to a randomised double-blind study of magnesium supplementation. Subjects were given between 250 and 1200 mg oral magnesium oxide or 128 to 256 mg magnesium chloride for up to four months. Four patients stopped because of diarrhoea. In the remaining subjects magnesium treatment resulted in marked symptomatic improvement.⁹⁴

• BLOOD LIPIDS

Lowered magnesium levels have been associated with an increased risk of Cardiovascular Disease. The raised lipid profile in magnesium deficient subjects appears to be contributory to this process.

Clinical Trials on Magnesium and Blood Lipids

Triglyceride levels were examined in a controlled study of sixty-nine patients with hyperlipidaemia. Thirty-seven received 500 mg oral magnesium daily. A significant reduction in triglycerides was seen in the supplemented patients. Mean triglycerides fell from 198.17 to 163.2. Erythrocyte magnesium concentration increased in these patients although without significant changes in plasma concentration. 95

In a study on the effects of various levels of magnesium intake on serum lipids and aortic cholesterol deposition in mice, the levels of both serum total cholesterol and lipid peroxides decreased relative to increases in the dose of magnesium. It was also found that adequate magnesium intake prevented cholesterol deposition in the arteries of the mice fed an atherogenic diet.⁹⁶

The atherogenic potential of low density lipoproteins (LDL) and very low density lipoproteins (VLDL) appears to be dependent on oxidation of these particles. Several studies have shown considerable peroxidation of these lipoproteins under magnesium deficient conditions. Two recent studies demonstrate that magnesium deficiency in rats is significantly associated with increased peroxidation of triglycerides, 97 VLDL and high density lipoproteins (HDL).98

Magnesium deficiency further increases the atherogenic potential by increasing the uptake by the arterial endothelium of oxidised cholesterol and LDL. *In vitro* studies suggest that the uptake of LDL by the vascular wall and its subsequent oxidation is markedly enhanced in magnesium deficient states. ⁹⁹ Rabbits fed a low magnesium diet were seen to accumulate oxidised cholesterol in their artery walls much more readily than those fed a magnesium sufficient diet. ¹⁰⁰

Benefits to Blood Pressure and the Blood Lipid Profile

In a double-blind, placebo-controlled study, thirty-three subjects were allocated to undergo either a four week treatment with oral magnesium supplementation (Mg(OH)₂; 411 to 548 mg magnesium per day) or a placebo.

- The systolic and diastolic blood pressure values decreased significantly in the magnesium group, but not in the placebo group.
- The urinary aldosterone excretion and packed cell volume increased significantly during the last two weeks of the experimental period compared with the run-in period and first two weeks of supplementation.
- There was a statistically significant positive correlation between the values for urinary noradrenaline excretion and diastolic blood pressure at the end of the supplementation period (both expressed as a percentage of the run-in value).
- Statistically significant increases in lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT), HDL-cholesterol and apolipoprotein AI were also observed after magnesium supplementation.
- A significant positive correlation was observed between the levels of LCAT and urinary magnesium excretion for the experimental period (expressed as a percentage of the run-in value).
- The total cholesterol:HDL-cholesterol ratio decreased significantly during the last two weeks of magnesium supplementation compared with the first two weeks and the run-in periods, but this did not occur in the placebo group.

These results suggest that magnesium supplementation may lower blood pressure through the suppression of the adrenergic activity and possible natriuresis, while also improving the serum lipids through the activation of LCAT in human subjects.¹⁰¹

• CORONARY HEART DISEASE/ATHEROSCLEROSIS

The physiological features of coronary artery disease strongly suggest influence of magnesium deficiency, and supplementation has shown significant effects in this serious pathology.

"Magnesium deficiency alone has been shown to cause cardiac and arterial lesions in every species of animal in which it has been induced. High fat/low magnesium intakes appear to be conjoint pathogenic factors. The arterial lesions of high fat diets in several species are intensified by simultaneous magnesium deficiency and protected against by magnesium repletion." 102

At the mitochondrial level, magnesium activates various enzymes and preserves both function and structure. The heart has a high mitochondrial density and enzyme activity which makes it particularly vulnerable to magnesium deficiency. Substantial evidence now suggests chronic magnesium deficiency causes functional cardiovascular abnormalities.¹⁰³

Magnesium is an effective calcium channel blocker. Cellular calcium toxicity is known to be contributory to atherogenesis, and calcium channel blocking agents have demonstrated preventive effects in atherosclerosis.^{104,105}

Antioxidant Activity

A magnesium deficient state is undeniably linked to exaggerated free radical tissue injury and several mechanisms are known to explain how magnesium deficiency leads to enhanced peroxidation and decreased oxidative defence processes. 106,107,108,109

The role of magnesium as a cofactor in glutathione production¹¹⁰ and the presence of high levels of copper and iron in magnesium deficient states support the role of magnesium to augment antioxidant defences against atherosclerosis.

• THROMBOSIS

An *in vivo* study of several potential antithrombotic agents, including heparin and aspirin, found poor efficacy, while magnesium demonstrated surprising capability without complications. ¹¹¹ Theresearchers reported profound modification of thrombus formation with parenteral magnesium administration. Excessive bleeding was not associated with the thrombus preventing qualities of magnesium.

The effect of magnesium on blood homeostasis contributes toward our understanding of the capacity of magnesium to prevent myocardial infarct. Platelet aggregation is a calcium dependent process, whereas magnesium is required for deaggregation and maintenance of platelet shape. Further, release of serotonin by aggregated platelets is calcium dependent and inhibited by magnesium. Thus, the net effect of a raised Calcium: Magnesium ratio is an elevated risk of thrombosis. The concern is that women may be consuming high levels of calcium without ensuring that the magnesium deficiencies, which are so prevalent, are addressed.

Muscular Aches, Pains, Cramps, Spasms and Stiffness

Magnesium deficiency is more common than is believed and should always be included in the differential diagnosis of patients who present with persistent or severe muscle pain.¹¹⁴

Magnesium Controls Tetanic Muscle Spasms

A prospective observational study was conducted to examine the efficacy and safety of magnesium sulphate for control of spasms and autonomic dysfunction in 40 patients with tetanus. Magnesium was infused intravenously, aiming to control spasms despite suppression of patellar reflex or respiratory insufficiency. Spasms were controlled in 38 of the 40 patients within a serum magnesium range of 2 to 4 mmol/L with only two patients needing additional neuromuscular blocking drugs. Seventeen of 24 patients (< 60 years) and six of 16 patients (> or = 60 years) did not require ventilatory support. Thirty-six patients were conscious and cooperative throughout their management. Sympathetic over-activity was controlled without supplementary sedation. Overall mortality was 12%; all five deaths were in patients greater than or equal to 60 years and no deaths were due to autonomic dysfunction. Magnesium is recommended as a possible first line therapy in the routine management of tetanus.¹¹⁵

Improvement of Spasticity in MS

The effects of magnesium glycerophosphate oral therapy on spasticity was studied in a 35-year-old woman with severe spastic paraplegia resulting from multiple sclerosis (MS). Significant improvement in the spasticity was seen after only one week from the onset of the treatment on the modified Ashworth scale, an improvement in the range of motion and in the measures of angles at resting position in lower limbs. No side-effects were reported and there was no weakness in the arms during the treatment.¹¹⁶

Athletics

Physical exertion and athletic performance are dependent on magnesium for ATP phosphorylation. Studies demonstrating a broad deficiency of magnesium in society point to athletes as being at high risk of developing magnesium deficiency because of their higher metabolic demands and increased losses through sweating. 117,118

Hypomagnesaemia is associated with decreased physical performance and increased incidence of muscle cramps, which improve with magnesium supplementation. ¹¹⁹ A study of swimmers taking 65 mg elemental magnesium found an 86% reduction in muscle cramps. The reductions occurred after only three days of supplementation. ¹²⁰

Improves Athletic Performance

The prevalence of magnesium deficiency and the high risk of depletion for athletes indicates that supplementation may benefit these individuals. Several researchers have discovered improved performance with magnesium supplementation. Female endurance athletes taking magnesium supplementation (15 mmol per day) found they could run at maximal intensity for longer, that sub-maximal oxygen uptake decreased by 10%, whereas maximal oxygen uptake (VO2) increased with a parallel change in work load. They also found sub-maximal respiratory minute volume and carbon dioxide formation decreased significantly, while maximal parameters increased. This data suggests an improvement in oxygen utilisation during magnesium supplementation, in female endurance athletes not exhibiting magnesium deficiency signs. The red blood cell magnesium content of the women taking magnesium increased significantly by 8%. Properties of the supplementation of the women taking magnesium increased significantly by 8%.

Reduces the Effects of Exercise-Induced Physiological Stress in Triathletes

In a double-blind randomised study, 23 triathletes competing in an event consisting of a 500 m swim, a 20 km bicycle race, and a 5 km run were studied after four weeks of supplementation with placebo or 17 mmol per day magnesium orotate. The tests were carried out without a break. Blood was collected before and after the test, and between the different events for assaying energy stress and membrane metabolism.

Swimming, cycling, and running times decreased in the magnesium group compared with the controls. Serum glucose concentration increased 87% during the test in the control group and 118% in the magnesium group, while serum insulin increased 39% in the controls and decreased 65% in the magnesium group. Venous oxygen partial pressure increased 126% during the test in the controls and increased 208% in the magnesium group. Venous carbon dioxide partial pressure after the bicycle race decreased 66% (significantly) in the magnesium group compared with 74% in the controls. Blood proton concentration decreased to 90% in the magnesium group (significantly) compared with 98% in the controls. Blood leukocyte count increased from 5.92/nL to 11.0/nL in the controls and from 5.81/nL to 9.10/nL in the magnesium group, a significant difference indicating magnesium reduces the inflammatory impact of exercise. This is also shown by the serum cortisol being lower in the magnesium group before and after the test compared with the controls. CK catalytic concentration after the test was elevated 140% in the controls compared with 122% magnesium group.

The stress-induced modifications of energy and hormone metabolism described in this study indicate altered glucose utilisation after magnesium supplementation and a reduced stress response without affecting competitive potential.¹²³

Improves Strength Gains from Weight Training

Magnesium plays an important role in protein synthesis, and this function may be most sensitive to magnesium insufficiency. DNA transcription, RNA aggregation and protein synthesis are all dependent on optimal magnesium concentration. During strength training, a suboptimal magnesium level would be likely to hinder gains from training.

A double-blind, placebo-controlled, seven week strength training program in 26 untrained subjects receiving magnesium found those being supplemented derived greater benefit from the training over controls. Dietary records of the patients were analysed and these athletes were supplemented with magnesium to bring them up to 8 mg/kg per day. This resulted in significant difference in strength gains in these athletes.¹²⁴

Magnesium, zinc, and chromium are mineral elements required in modest amounts to maintain health and optimal physiologic function. For physically active persons, adequate amounts of these micronutrients are needed in the diet to ensure the capacity for increased energy expenditure and work performance. Most physically active individuals consume diets that provide amounts of magnesium and zinc sufficient to meet population standards. Women tend to consume less of these minerals than is recommended, in part because they eat less food than men. Inadequate intakes of magnesium and zinc have been reported for participants in activities requiring restriction of body weight. Acute, intense activity results in short-term increases in both urine and sweat losses of minerals that apparently diminish during recovery in the days after exercise. Supplemental magnesium and zinc apparently improve strength and muscle metabolism.¹²⁵

Headaches

• TENSION HEADACHES

Although many theories and hypotheses have been offered for the etiology of tension headaches (TH), no one previous hypothesis seems to adequately explain them. In reviewing current and old hypotheses of TH, a new hypothesis becomes apparent, which is consistent with what is known about TH – it appears that magnesium metabolism may be pivotal in both the etiology and treatment of TH.

Since approximately 70% of patients who have a TH exhibit muscular tightness and tenderness, it is distinctly possible that problems in magnesium metabolism and dietary intake are the links to concomitant muscle tension and TH. The release of pain mediators, muscle cramps, muscle strains (and damage) and muscle tension are all associated with a magnesium-deficient state. It seems clear from the available data that TH's are more associated with muscle tension or scalp tension than any other headache type. From the data available, magnesium supplementation appears to be of great benefit in many of these situations. ¹²⁶

MIGRAINES

The higher incidence of migraine amongst those prone to cellular magnesium depletion¹²⁷ and the influence of magnesium on prostanoids and thrombogenesis support the premise that magnesium deficiency is involved in the pathogenesis of migraine.^{128,129}

Additional factors suggesting a role of magnesium deficiency in migraines include the role of magnesium in serotonin release and in vascular reactivity to serotonin. Migraine sufferers are known to release more serotonin from platelets than non-sufferers, which may contribute to vasospasm. Calcium channel blockers have been effective in reducing migraines, and as magnesium is a natural calcium channel blocker, this may be a further mechanism to explain the clinical effectiveness of magnesium against migraines. The control of the role of magnesium against migraines.

Magnesium Reduces Frequency, Duration and Intensity of Migraines

In order to evaluate the prophylactic effect of oral magnesium, 81 patients aged 18 to 65 years with migraine defined according to the International Headache Society (IHS) criteria (mean attack frequency 3.6 per month) were examined. After a prospective baseline period of four weeks they received oral 600 mg (24 mmol) magnesium (trimagnesium dicitrate) daily for 12 weeks or placebo. In weeks 9 to 12 the attack frequency was reduced by 41.6% in the magnesium group and by 15.8% in the placebo group compared to the baseline (p < 0.05). The number of days with migraine and the drug consumption for symptomatic treatment per patient also decreased significantly in the magnesium group. Duration and intensity of the attacks and the drug consumption per attack also tended to decrease compared to placebo but failed to be significant. Adverse events were diarrhoea (18.6%) and gastric irritation (4.7%). High-dose oral magnesium appears to be effective in migraine prophylaxis. 132

In vitro and *in vivo* studies indicate that magnesium deficiency could play a contributing role in the pathogenesis of migraine in up to 50% of patients. Chelated magnesium diglycinate appears to be one of the better absorbed preparations. Despite the absence of definitive large scale studies, we recommend magnesium supplementation (chelated magnesium diglycinate 600 mg per day) in patients who experience migraine. This recommendation is based on the excellent safety profile and low cost of the supplementation, and the large amount of experimental and clinical data that support the use of this therapy.¹³³

Menstrual migraine is a problem for many women. The association between magnesium and both migraines and premenstrual syndrome suggests supplementation will benefit those sufferers. A double-blind placebo controlled study using 360 mg per day magnesium found a reduction in the number of migraines, as well as their duration and intensity. The beneficial effects of magnesium in this study were seen in all of the patients taking magnesium. The authors suggest low magnesium levels may lower the migraine threshold. A significant rise in magnesium status indices was found in those patients taking supplementation. 134

Fibromyalgia

Fibromyalgia is a common clinical feature of chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS) and is associated with the presence of multiple tender points and depression. Chronic tissue hypoxia seems to be a contributing biochemical process in this condition and magnesium deficiency is a likely contributor.

Patients with fibromyalgia often suffer from myalgias, fatigue, sleep disturbances and anxiety. 135 These same symptoms are also found in patients with low magnesium levels. 136

Clinical Trials of Magnesium in Fibromyalgia

Clinical studies have indeed found sufferers of fibromyalgia to be deficient in magnesium and to benefit from supplementation.¹³⁷

Another more recent study on the treatment of subjects diagnosed with fibromyalgia show marked improvement with supplementation. Patients took 1200 to 2400 mg of malic acid and 300 to 600 mg magnesium daily for eight weeks on the combination. Subjective improvement in pain score on ingestion of a magnesium/malic acid combination resulted within 48 hours. Their tender point index scores decreased from an average 19.6 to 8 and 6.5 after four and eight weeks respectively. On cessation of supplementation the fibromyalgia patients noted a subsequent subjective worsening of their condition.

A similar study using both malic acid and magnesium has confirmed the previous results. ¹³⁹ The randomised placebo-controlled study found no clear treatment advantage when low dosage (1200 mg malic acid and 300 mg magnesium) was used for four weeks as a pilot trial. Doubling the dose for six months in the main trail showed significant reductions in primary pain and tenderness measures in the fibromyalgia patients. The researchers commented that the treatment appeared to be safe, although required to be taken for at least two months before positive effects began.

Chronic Fatigue Syndrome

Magnesium deficiency signs and symptoms are similar to those expressed by chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS) sufferers and these patients are known to be magnesium deficient.¹⁴⁰

An examination of red blood cell magnesium in CFS patients found every subject to be lower than controls. 141 These same patients were treated with magnesium sulphate injections every week for six weeks. Those treated with magnesium had improved energy levels, better emotional state and less pain. Minimal changes were noted in the controls. All of those patients receiving magnesium supplementation achieved normal red blood cell magnesium before the end of the study, whereas only one of the magnesium deficient controls was found to have normal levels at trial termination.

In a case of CFS which was unresponsive to NSAIDs, minor tranquillisers and antidepressant drugs, weekly intravenous magnesium for six weeks resulted in reduced fatigue, and after seven months in hospital the patient was able to return home.¹⁴²

It has been suggested that it is magnesium deficiencies in CFS patients that are responsible for the muscle pain they experience. 143 Muscle relaxation is a magnesium dependent process and in magnesium deficient states, myofibrillar relaxation may be impaired. The contraction of an antagonist against a partly contracted protagonist will result in myofibrillar damage, muscle pain and tenderness with easy fatigability of the muscles.

Folic acid is required for the maturation of many cell types, including most immune cells. Research has found chronic fatigue patients to be deficient in folic acid, suggesting supplementation may be of benefit to these patients.¹⁴⁴

Alcohol Consumption

Magnesium Replacement Important for Alcohol Consumers

Forty-nine chronic alcoholics, moderate to heavy drinkers for at least 10 years, were randomised to receive oral magnesium or placebo treatment for six weeks according to a double-blind protocol. Effects on metabolic variables and muscle strength were analysed. Significant reduction of aspartate-aminotransferase (AST), alanine-aminotransferase (ALT) and gamma-glutamyltranspeptidase (GGT) were seen after magnesium, whereas no change was observed with placebo. Bilirubin decreased in both groups. Serum sodium, calcium and phosphorous increased significantly during magnesium therapy compared with no statistically significant change in the placebo group. Serum potassium and magnesium increased slightly after magnesium supplementation and decreased in the placebo group, resulting in a significant difference between the two groups at the end of the study. Muscle strength increased significantly during magnesium treatment, contrasting to no change with placebo. Blood pressure, heart rate, haematological variables, serum lipids (cholesterol, HDL, TG), glucose tolerance, and creatinine were unchanged in the two groups after treatment. Alcohol consumption was similar before and during the trial and does not explain the differences between the two groups. The results show that short-term oral magnesium therapy may improve liver cell function, electrolyte status, and muscle strength in chronic alcoholics. 145

Metal Toxicity

Protects Against DNA Damage and Carcinogenesis from Toxic Metals

Metals are emerging as very important carcinogens, with research increasingly demonstrating their toxicity and an increase in their distribution by industry.

The inhibitory effects of magnesium on tumour growth in animal systems has been known for several years. Part of this inhibitory activity is thought to be due to a chemopreventive effect against toxic metal carcinogenesis. Toxic (or "heavy") metals have several unique characteristics. They have remarkable target site specificity, and, unlike organic carcinogens, they do not require metabolic activation.

Simultaneous administration of magnesium has been shown to eliminate the DNA methylation and carcinogenic potential of nickel. 146,147

APPENDIX



Clinica Chimica Acta 294 (2000) 1-26



Review

Magnesium An update on physiological, clinical and analytical aspects

Nils-Erik L. Saris^a,*, Eero Mervaala^a, Heikki Karppanen^a, Jahangir A. Khawaja^a, Andrzei Lewenstam^{b,c}

"Institute of Biomedicine, PO Box 9, FIN-00014 University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

"Center for Process Analytical Chemistry and Sensor Technology 'ProSens', Åbo Akademi University,
FIN-20500 Åbo/Turku, Finland

"Faculty of Material Science and Ceramics, University of Mining and Metallurgy,
PO-30-059 Cracow, Poland

Received 20 September 1999; accepted 2 December 1999

Abstract

There is an increased interest in the role of magnesium ions in clinical medicine, nutrition and physiology. The characteristics of the binding of magnesium and calcium ions to various components, macromolecules and biological membranes are described. Magnesium affects many cellular functions, including transport of potassium and calcium ions, and modulates signal transduction, energy metabolism and cell proliferation. The mechanism of cellular uptake and efflux of magnesium, its intracellular transport, intestinal absorption, renal excretion and the effect of hormones on these are reviewed. Magnesium deficiency is not uncommon among the general population: its intake has decreased over the years especially in the western world. The magnesium supplementation or intravenous infusion may be beneficial in various diseased states. Of special interest is the magnesium status in alcoholism, eclampsia, hypertension, atherosclerosis, cardiac diseases, diabetes, and asthma. The development of instrumentation for the assay of ionized magnesium is reviewed, as are the analytical procedures for total magnesium in blood and free magnesium in the cytosol. The improved procedures for the assay of different magnesium states are useful in understanding the role of magnesium in health and disease. © 2000 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

E-mail address: saris@penger.helsinki.fi (N.-E.L. Saris)

0009-8981/00/\$ - see front matter © 2000 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

PII: S0009-8981(99)00258-2

Abbreviations: Ca, calcium, calcium ion; Mg, magnesium, magnesium ion; P_i, inorganic phosphate; PTH, parathyroid hormone

^{*}Corresponding author. Tel.: +358-9-191-8489; fax: +358-9-191-8499.



Molecular Aspects of Medicine 24 (2003) 53-62

MOLECULAR ASPECTS OF MEDICINE

www.elsevier.com/locate/mam

Magnesium and cardiac arrhythmias

Pietro Delva *

Department of Biomedical and Surgical Sciences, University of Verona, Policlinico G.B. Rossi, Verona 37134, Italy

1. Possible arrythmogenic mechanism

There is a long history of the use of magnesium in the treatment of arrhythmias. Numerous studies have been carried out in an attempt to define the role of both intracellular and extracellular magnesium in the physiopathology and treatment of arrhythmias. Hypomagnesaemia has been suggested as a cause for arrhythmias of both sopraventricular and ventricular origin, but any relationship between hypomagnesaemia and the development of arrhythmias is extremely complex since patients with normal plasma levels of magnesium may in fact have a reduced body content of the ion which, as we know is located primarily inside the cells. Moreover, the close yet never fully explained relationship between the metabolism of magnesium and potassium, and the importance of the latter in the origin of arrhythmias has further complicated the development of our knowledge in this field.

Whereas the effects of magnesium on *surface* ECG and cardiac electrophysiology have been studied in depth in animals (Surawicz et al., 1961; Watanabe and Dreifus, 1972; Nishimura et al., 1985), studies on man are rather limited. Kulick et al. (1988) studied healthy subjects who were given magnesium intravenously and evaluated the main cardiac electrophysiological parameters together with the measurement of both plasma concentration and intracellular magnesium content in monocytes. The measurement of plasma and intracellular levels of magnesium is a particularly important aspect of this study since, despite the numerous reports of a positive or nul effect of magnesium on various forms of arrhythmia, intracellular levels of magnesium before and after treatment are often not mentioned. As a result, it is not clear whether patients who benefited from treatment with magnesium were characterized by a reduced body content of the ion or not. Kulick et al. (1988) found that treatment with magnesium produces a significant lengthening of the PR interval and this increase appears to be located at the level of the AV node. Magnesium also induces a

E-mail address: pietro.delva@mail.univr.it (P. Delva).

0098-2997/03/\$ - see front matter © 2003 Elsevier Science Ltd. All rights reserved. PII: S0098-2997(02)00091-2

^{*}Tel.: +39-347-1595066; fax: +39-045-508815.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1689 (2004) 13-21



Low magnesium promotes endothelial cell dysfunction: implications for atherosclerosis, inflammation and thrombosis

Jeanette A.M. Maier^{a,*}, Corinne Malpuech-Brugère^b, Wioletta Zimowska^b, Yves Rayssiguier^b, Andrzej Mazur^b

^aDepartment of Preclinical Sciences LITA Vialba, University of Milan, Via GB Grassi 74, 20157, Milan, Italy
^bThe Centre de Recherche en Nutrition Humaine d'Auvergne, Unité Maladies Métaboliques et Micronutriments, INRA, Clermont-Ferrand/Theix, France

Received 18 November 2003; received in revised form 5 January 2004; accepted 6 January 2004

Available online 26 January 2004

Abstract

Because (i) endothelial cells are important players in cardiovascular diseases and (ii) Mg deficiency promotes atherosclerosis, thrombosis and hypertension, we evaluated whether low concentrations of Mg could directly affect endothelial behavior. We found that low Mg concentrations reversibly inhibit endothelial proliferation, and this event correlates with a marked down-regulation of the levels of CDC25B. The inhibition of endothelial proliferation is due to an up-regulation of interleukin-1 (IL-1), since an antisense oligonucleotide against IL-1 could prevent the growth inhibition observed in cells exposed to low concentrations of the cation. We also report the up-regulation of Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 (VCAM) and Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor (PAI)-1 after Mg deficiency. VCAM is responsible, at least in part, of the increased adhesion of monocytoid U937 cells to the endothelial cells grown in low magnesium. In addition, endothelial migratory response is severely impaired. By cDNA array, we identified several transcripts modulated by exposure to low Mg, some of which—c-src, ezrin, CD9, cytohesin and zyxin—contribute to endothelial adhesion to substrates and migration.

In conclusion, our results demonstrate a direct role of low magnesium in promoting endothelial dysfunction by generating a proinflammatory, pro-thrombotic and pro-atherogenic environment that could play a role in the pathogenesis cardiovascular disease. © 2004 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Endothelial cell; Magnesium; Atherosclerosis; Gene expression; Inflammation

1. Introduction

Endothelial cells maintain the functional integrity of the vascular wall. Beyond their role in controlling permeability, they are involved in the maintenance of a non-thrombogenic blood—tissue interface, in the modulation of blood flow and vascular resistance, in the regulation of immune and inflammatory reactions [1]. It is well accepted that endothelial dysfunction plays an important pathogenic role in several diseases, among which atherosclerosis [2], hypertension [3], diabetes [1] and thrombosis [1]. In particular, a huge amount of experimental evidence supports the paradigm of endothelial dysfunction as the common link between risk factors and atherosclerotic burden [2]. Indeed, endothelial dysfunction actively participates in the process of lesion formation by promoting leukocyte adherence, increasing chemokine

secretion and cell permeability to lipids, enhancing LDL oxidation, stimulating vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation and migration and platelet activation [2].

In addition, endothelial cells are protagonists in angiogenesis, i.e. the branching and sprouting of capillaries from preexisting blood vessels, which is a tightly controlled event crucial in development, in reproduction and wound healing [4].

Because of their strategical location at the interface between blood and vessels, endothelial cells are readily exposed to various signals (cytokines, metabolites, ions, free radicals, shear stress), some of which may promote maladaptative functional changes. Among others, low magnesium (Mg) status has been reported to be important in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular diseases [5]. Interestingly, low magnesium status, which is frequent in western countries, is a common denominator in hypertension [6], coronary artery disease [7], thrombosis [8] and diabetes [9]. During experimental Mg deficiency hyperlipemia, inflammation and early atherosclerotic lesions have been observed

0925-4439/\$ – see front matter © 2004 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2004.01.002

^{*} Corresponding author, Tel.: +39-02-50319659; fax: +39-02-50319642.

E-mail address: jeanette.maier@unimi.it (J.A.M. Maier).



Molecular Aspects of Medicine 24 (2003) 39-52

MOLECULAR ASPECTS OF MEDICINE

www.elsevier.com/locate/mam

Role of magnesium in insulin action, diabetes and cardio-metabolic syndrome X

Mario Barbagallo ^{a,*}, Ligia J. Dominguez ^a, Antonio Galioto ^a, Anna Ferlisi ^a, Calogero Cani ^a, Loriano Malfa ^a, Antonella Pineo ^a, Adele Busardo ^a, Giuseppe Paolisso ^b

^a Institute of Internal Medicine and Geriatrics, University of Palermo, Via F. Scaduto 6/C, Palermo, Italy ^b Department of Geriatrics, II University of Naples, Italy

Abstract

Magnesium (Mg) is one of the most abundant ions present in living cells and its plasma concentration is remarkably constant in healthy subjects. Plasma and intracellular Mg concentrations are tightly regulated by several factors. Among them, insulin seems to be one of the most important. In vitro and in vivo studies have demonstrated that insulin may modulate the shift of Mg from extracellular to intracellular space. Intracellular Mg concentration has also been shown to be effective in modulating insulin action (mainly oxidative glucose metabolism), offset calcium-related excitation-contraction coupling, and decrease smooth cell responsiveness to depolarizing stimuli. A poor intracellular Mg concentration, as found in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM) and in hypertensive patients, may result in a defective tyrosine-kinase activity at the insulin receptor level and exaggerated intracellular calcium concentration. Both events are responsible for the impairment in insulin action and a worsening of insulin resistance in noninsulin-dependent diabetic and hypertensive patients. By contrast, in NIDDM patients daily Mg administration, restoring a more appropriate intracellular Mg concentration, contributes to improve insulin-mediated glucose uptake. The benefits deriving- from daily Mg supplementation in NIDDM patients are further supported by epidemiological studies showing that high daily Mg intake are predictive of a lower incidence of NIDDM. In conclusion, a growing body of studies suggest that intracellular Mg may play a key role in modulating insulin-mediated glucose uptake and vascular tone. We further suggest that a reduced intracellular Mg concentration might be the missing link helping to explain the epidemiological association between NIDDM and hypertension. © 2003 Elsevier Science Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Magnesium; Glucose intolerance; Diabetes; Hypertension; Syndrome X; Calcium

0098-2997/03/\$ - see front matter © 2003 Elsevier Science Ltd. All rights reserved. PII: S0098-2997(02)00090-0

^{*}Corresponding author. Tel./fax: +39-91-6552885. E-mail address: mabar@unipa.it (M. Barbagallo).

Magnesium and exercise

Caroline H Bohl; Stella L Volpe

Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition; 2002; 42, 6; Health & Medical Complete

pg. 533

Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 42(6):533-563 (2002)

Magnesium and Exercise

Caroline H. Bohl and Stella L. Volpe*

University of Massachusetts, Department of Nutrition, Amherst

Referee: Dr. Ian J. Newhouse, Associate Professor and Chair, School of Kinesiology, Lakehead University, Thunder Bay, Ontario,
Canada P7B 5E1

Corresponding author: Stella L. Volpe, Ph.D., R.D., Department of Nutrition, University of Massachusetts, 210 Chenoweth Lab, 100
Holdsworth Way, Amberst, MA 01003

ABSTRACT: Magnesium is an essential element that regulates membrane stability and neuromuscular, cardiovascular, immune, and hormonal functions and is a critical cofactor in many metabolic reactions. The Dietary Reference Intake for magnesium for adults is 310 to 420 mg/day. However, the intake of magnesium in humans is often suboptimal. Magnesium deficiency may lead to changes in gastrointestinal, cardiovascular, and neuromuscular function. Physical exercise may deplete magnesium, which, together with a marginal dietary magnesium intake, may impair energy metabolism efficiency and the capacity for physical work. Magnesium assessment has been a challenge because of the absence of an accurate and convenient assessment method. Recently, magnesium has been touted as an agent for increasing athletic performance. This article reviews the various studies that have been conducted to investigate the relationship of magnesium and exercise.

I. INTRODUCTION

Magnesium is an essential mineral and a cofactor for over 325 enzymatic reactions involved in cellular energy production and storage, protein synthesis, deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) and ribonucleic acid (RNA) synthesis, cell growth and reproduction, adenylate cyclase synthesis, maintenance of cellular electrolyte composition, and stabilization of mitochondrial membranes.1 Magnesium plays a central role in the control of neuronal activity, cardiac excitability, neuromuscular transmission, muscular contraction, vasomotor tone, and blood pressure.1 Therefore, magnesium deficiency may lead to changes in gastrointestinal, cardiovascular, and neuromuscular function. The magnesium intake of the general population may be suboptimal and, consequently, athletes may also be consuming inadequate amounts of magnesium.2.3 Exercise is a potent stressor that appears to lead to magnesium depletion through alterations in blood magnesium levels as well as increased excretion through sweat and urine, and may compound a state of deficiency when magnesium intake is inadequate. Research has shown that magnesium deficiency may reduce physical performance and magnesium status may have an effect on exercise capacity. During the last decade there has been considerable interest in whether mineral supplementation can result in an improvement in athletic performance. Therefore, the aim of this review is to assess whether physical activity is a factor leading to a magnesium deficit, to determine the consequences of magnesium deficit in the pathophysiology of sport, and discuss the effects of magnesium supplementation on physical performance.^{2,3} Prior to the discussion of magnesium and exercise, a comprehensive review of the chemistry, metabolism, and assessment of magnesium is given.

II. CHEMISTRY

Magnesium (Mg⁺²) is a divalent metal ion. It is the fourth most abundant cation in the body after calcium (Ca⁺²), potassium (K⁺), and sodium (Na⁺) and is the second most abundant intracellular cation after potassium (K⁺). Magnesium is usually bound to ligands, strictly octahedral in the

1040-8398/02/\$.50 © 2002 by CRC Press LLC

533

REFERENCES

- Schuette SA, et al. Bioavailability of magnesium diglycinate vs magnesium oxide in patients with ileal resection. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 1994 Sep-Oct;18(5):430-5
- 2. McCollister RJ, Flink EB, Lewis MD. Urinary excretion of magnesium in man following the ingestion of ethanol. Am J Clin Nutr 1963;12:415-420.
- 3. Flink EB. Magnesium deficiency in alcoholism. Alcoholism 1986;10:590-594.
- 4. Altura BM, Altura BT. Role of magnesium and calcium in alcohol-induced hypertension and strokes as probed by in vivo television microscopy, digital image microscopy, optical spectroscopy, 31P-NMR, spectroscopy and a unique magnesium ion-selective electrode. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1994;18(5):1057-1068.
- Ogata M, Mendelson JH, Mello NK. Electrolytes and osmolarity in alcoholics during experimentally induced intoxication. Psychosomatic Med 1968;30:463-488.
- 6. Mendelson JH, Ogata M, Mello NK. Effects of alcohol ingestion and withdrawal on magnesium states of alcoholics: clinical and experimental findings. Ann NY Acad Sci 1969;162:918-933.
- 7. Herbs & Natural Supplements. An evidence-based guide. Braun L & Cohen M. Elsevier Australia 2005
- 8. Webb WL, Gehi M. Electrolyte and fluid imbalance: neuropsychiatric manifestations. Psychosomatics 1981;22:1991-1203.
- 9. Romano TJ, Stiller JW. Magnesium deficiency in fibromyalgia syndrome. J Nutr Med 1994;4(2):165-8
- 10. Garfinkel L, Garfinkel D. Magnesium regulation of the glycolytic pathway and the enzymes involved. Magnesium 1985;4(2-3):60-72.
- 11. Brilla L, Lombardi VP. Magnesium and sport performance. Sports Nutrition Minerals and Electrolytes (Kies and Driskell editors), CRC Press, Boca Raton, 1995:139-177.
- Barbagallo M, Dominguez LJ, Galioto A, Ferlisi A, Cani C, Malfa L, Pineo A, Busardo' A, Paolisso G. Role of magnesium in insulin action, diabetes and cardio-metabolic syndrome X. Mol Aspects Med. 2003 Feb-Jun;24(1-3):39-52.
- 13. Lefebvre PJ, Scheen AJ. Improving the action of insulin. Clin Invest Med. 1995 Aug;18(4):340-7.
- 14. Kelly GS. Insulin resistance: lifestyle and nutritional interventions. Altern Med Rev. 2000 Apr;5(2):109-32.
- 15. Henrotte JG, Plouin PF, Levy-Leboyer C, Moser G, Sidoroff-Girault N, Franck G, Santarromana M, Pineau M. Blood and urinary magnesium, zinc, calcium, free fatty acids, and catecholamines in type A and type B subjects. J Am Coll Nutr. 1985;4(2):165-72.
- 16. Galland L. Magnesium, stress and neuropsychiatric disorders. Magnes Trace Elem. 1991-92;10(2-4):287-301.
- 17. Kirov GK, Tsachev KN. Magnesium, schizophrenia and manic-depressive disease. Neuropsychobiology. 1990;23(2):79-81
- 18. Taborska V. Incidence of latent tetany in patients with panic disorder. Cesk Psychiatr. 1995 Jul;91(3):183-90.
- 19. Abraham GE, Lubran MM. Serum and red cell magnesium levels in patients with premenstrual tension. Am J Clin Nutr 1981;34:2364-2366.
- 20. Abraham GE. Nutrition and the premenstrual tension syndromes. J Appl Nutr 1984;36:103-124.
- 21. Abraham GE. Nutritional factors in the aetiology of the premenstrual syndrome tension syndromes. J Reprod Med 1983;28:446-464.
- 22. Sherwood RA, Rocks BF, Stewart A, Saxton RS. Magnesium and the premenstrual syndrome. Ann Clin Biochem. 1986 Nov;23 (Pt 6):667-70.
- 23. Facchinetti F, Borella P, Sances G, Fioroni L, Nappi RE, Genazzani AR. Oral magnesium successfully relieves premenstrual mood changes. Obstet Gynecol. 1991 Aug;78(2):177-81.
- 24. Walker AF, De Souza MC, Vickers MF, Abeyasekera S, Collins ML, Trinca LA. Magnesium supplementation alleviates premenstrual symptoms of fluid retention. J Womens Health. 1998 Nov;7(9):1157-65.
- 25. De Souza MC, Walker AF, Robinson PA, Bolland K. A synergistic effect of a daily supplement for 1 month of 200 mg magnesium plus 50 mg vitamin B6 for the relief of anxiety-related premenstrual symptoms: a randomized, double-blind, crossover study. J Womens Health Gend Based Med. 2000 Mar;9(2):131-9.
- 26. Seifert B, Wagler P, Dartsch S, Schmidt U, Nieder J. Magnesium--a new therapeutic alternative in primary dysmenorrhea. Zentralbl Gynakol. 1989;111(11):755-60.
- 27. Thys-Jacobs S. Micronutrients and the premenstrual syndrome: the case for calcium. J Am Coll Nutr. 2000 Apr;19(2):220-7.
- 28. De Ridder G, Gossen D. Magnesium in pregnancy relationship to prophylaxis and therapy of early contractions and threatening premature births. Magnes Res 1988;1:247.
- 29. Fehlinger R, Kemnitz C, Dreibig P, Egert M, Seidel K. Prematurity, latent tetany and magnesium deficiency: a retrospective study with 132 mothers. Magnes Bull 1984;6:52-59.
- 30. Wynn A, Wynn M. Magnesium and other nutrient deficiencies as possible causes of low birthweight. Nutr Health 1988;6:69-88
- 31. Spatling L, Spatling G. Magnesium supplementation in pregnancy: a double blind study Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1988;95:102-125.
- 32. Doyle W, Crawford MA, Wynn AH, Wynn SW. The association between maternal diet and birth dimensions. J Nutr Med 1991;1:9-17.
- 33. Doyle W, Crawford MA, Wynn AH, Wynn SW. Maternal magnesium intake and pregnancy outcome. Magnes Res 1989;2:205-210.
- 34. Fukai F, Murayama A. Association and dissociation of oestrogen receptor-binding factors is regulated by Mg2+. J Biochem 1984;95:1227-1230.

- 35. Ford KA, La Barbera AR. Cationic modulation of follicle stimulating hormone binding to granulosa cell receptor. Biol Reprod 1987;36:643-650.
- 36. Walker GM. Magnesium and cell cycle control: an update. Magnesium 1986;5:9-23.
- 37. Howard JM, Davies S, Hunnisett A. Red cell magnesium and glutathione peroxidase in infertile women effects of oral supplementation with magnesium and selenium. Magnes Res 1994;7(1):49-57.
- 38. Spatling L. Magnesium in obstetrics and gynecology Gynakol Geburtshilfliche Rundsch. 1993;33(2):85-91.
- 39. Valenzuela GJ, Hayashi RH, Johns A. Effect of magnesium sulphate upon uterine contractility in humans. Magnesium, 1983;2:120-124.
- 40. Valenzuela GJ, Munson LA. Magnesium and pregnancy. Magnesium 1987;6:128-135.
- 41. Dahle LO, Berg G, Hammar M, Hurtig M, Larsson L.The effect of oral magnesium substitution on pregnancy-induced leg cramps. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1995;173(1):175-80.
- 42. Rudnicki PM, Frolich A, Fischer-Rasmussen W. Magnesium therapy in pregnancy-induced and pre-eclampsia. Ugeskr Laeger 1993;155(7):460-3.
- 43. Kisters K, Spieker C, Nieder W, Fafera I, Rahn KH, Zidek W. Magnesium metabolism in pregnancy and preeclampsia. 15th Symposium der Gesselschaft für Magnesium forschung September 1992.
- 44. Melles Z, Kiss SA. Influence of the magnesium content of drinking water and of magnesium therapy on the occurrence of pre-eclampsia. Magnes Res Dec 1992;5(4):277-9.
- 45. Mizuki J, Tasaka K, Masumoto N, Kasahara K, Miyake A, Tanizawa O. Magnesium sulphate inhibits oxytocininduced calcium mobilisation in human puerperal myometrial cells: possible involvement of intracellular free magnesium concentration. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1993;169:134-139.
- 46. Elliot JP. Magnesium sulphate as a tocolytic agent. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1983;147:277-284.
- 47. Goldner HD, Weidinger H. Tocolysis with fenoterol and high dosages of magnesium. 15th Symposium der Gesselschaft für Magnesium forschung September 1992.
- 48. Novak M, Losonczy J, Kornafeld J, Toth MO. Experiences on giving magnesium citrate to pregnant mothers. Magnes Res 1989;2:230.
- 49. Reginster JY, Noordhout B, Albert A, Dupont-Onkelinx A, Franchimont P. Serum and erythrocyte magnesium in osteoporotic and osteoarthritic postmenopausal women. Magnesium 1985;4:208.
- 50. Abraham GE. The importance of magnesium in the management of primary postmenopausal osteoporosis. J Nutr Med 1991;2:165-178.
- 51. Rude RK, Adams JS, Ryzen E. Low serum concentrations of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D in human magnesium deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1985;61:933.
- 52. Rude RK, Oldham SB, Sharp CF, Singer FR. Parathyroid hormone secretion in magnesium deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1978;47:800-806.
- 53. Rude RK, Oldham SB, Singer FR. Functional hypoparathyroidism and parathyroid hormone end-organ resistance in human magnesium deficiency. Clin Endocrinol 1976;5:209-224.
- 54. Connor TB, Toskes P, Mahaffey J, Martin LG, Williams JB, Walser M. Parathyroid function during magnesium deficiency. Johns Hopkins Med J 1972;131:100-117.
- 55. Abraham GE. The calcium controversy. J Appl Nutr 1982;34:69.
- 56. Medalle R, Waterhouse C, Hahn TJ. Vitamin D resistance in magnesium deficiency. Am J Clin Nutr 1976;29:858.
- 57. Heaton FW, Fourman P. Magnesium deficiency and hypocalcaemia in intestinal malabsorption. Lancet 1965:ii:50
- 58. Mirra J, Alcock NW, Shils ME. Effects of calcium and magnesium deficiencies on rat skeletal development and parathyroid gland area. Magnesium 1982;1:16-33.
- 59. Kanis JA, Passmore R. Calcium supplementation of the diet—I & II. Br Med J 1989;298:137-140,205-208.
- 60. Marsh AG, Sanchez TV, Mickelsen O. Cortical bone density of adult lacto-ovo-vegetarian and omnivorous women. J Am Diet Assoc 1980;76:148-151.
- 61. Ellis FR, Holesh S, Ellis JW. Incidence of osteoporosis in vegetarians and omnivores. Am J Clin Nutr 1972;25:555.
- 62. Sanchez TV, Mickelsen O, Marsh AG, Garn SM. Bone mineral in elderly vegetarian and omnivorous females In: Mazess RB, ed. Proceedings of the Fourth International Conference on Bone Measurement. Bethesda: NIH, 1980:94.
- 63. Hughes BD, Dallal GE, Krall EA, Sadowski L, Sahyoun N, Tannebaum S. A controlled trial of the effect of calcium supplementation on bone density in postmenopausal women. New Eng J Med 1990;323:878-883.
- 64. Wirell MP, Wester PO, Stegmayer BG. Nutritional dose of magnesium in hypertensive patients on beta blockers lowers systolic blood pressure: a double blind, cross-over study. J Int Med 1994;236:189-195.
- 65. Widman L, Wester PO, Stegmayr B. The dose dependent reduction in blood pressure through administration of magnesium a double blind placebo controlled crossover study. 15th Symposium der Gesselschaft für Magnesium forschung September 1992.
- 66. Dyckner T, Wester PO. Effect of magnesium on BP. BMJ 1983;286:1847-1849.
- 67. Rude R, Manoogian C, Ehrlich L, DeRusso P, Rysen E, Nadler J. Mechanisms of blood pressure regulation by magnesium in man. Magnesium 1989;8:226-273.
- 68. Wester PO. Magnesium and hypertension. Magnesium Bull 1992;14(4).
- 69. Witterman JCM, Grobbee DE, Derkx FHM, Boullion R, de Bruijn AM, Hofman A. Reduction of blood pressure with oral magnesium supplementation in women with mild to moderate hypertension. 15th Symposium der Gesselschaft für Magnesium forschung September 1992.
- 70. Haga H. Effects of dietary magnesium supplementation on diurnal variations of blood pressure and plasma Na+, K(+)-ATPase activity in essential hypertension. Jpn Heart J Nov 1992;33(6):785-800.

- 71. Takemoto Y. Central depressor effects of amino acids in conscious normotensive and two-kidney, one-clip renovascular hypertensive rats. Jpn J Physiol 1991;41(5):717-24.
- 72. Lassere B, Girardin E, Moullet V, Spoerri M, Theubet MP, Silver B, Paunier L. Effects of two diuretic regimens on the magnesium balance of hypertensive subjects: comparison of the results obtained from an intravenous Mg-load with direct intracellular measurements. Magnes Bull 1992;14(4).
- 73. Eisenberg MJ. Magnesium deficiency and sudden death. Am Heart J 1992;124:544-549.
- 74. Kurita T. Antiarrhythmic effect of parenteral magnesium on ventricular tachycardia associated with long QT syndrome. Magnes Res 1994;7(2):155-157.
- 75. Rebentisch E, Ising H, Bertschat Fr, Sorgenfrei J. Treatment with magnesium during arrhythmia following myocardial infarction: therapeutic efficacy. Magnes Bull 1992;14(4):111-121.
- 76. Gullestad L, Birkeland K, Molstad P, Hoyer MM, Vanberg P, Kjekshus J. The effect of magnesium versus verapamil on supraventricular arrhythmias. Clin Cardiol 1993;16(5):429-34.
- 77. Agus Z, Morad M.. Modulations of cardiac ion channels by magnesium. Annu Rev Physiol 1991;53:299-307.
- 78. Glanzer K, Stolberg D. High doses of oral potassium/magnesium therapy in chronic stable ventricular ectopy. 15th Symposium der Gesselschaft für Magnesium forschung September 1992.
- 79. Mori H, Narita H, Hoshi Y, Kanazawa T, Onodera K, Metoki H, Matsui T, Oike Y. The relationship between coronary artery diseases and magnesium deficiency with regard to coronary artery spasms. Ann NY Acad Sci 334-337.
- 80. Altura BT. Type-A behavior and coronary vasospasm: a possible role of hypomagnesemia. Med Hypotheses. 1980 Jul;6(7):753-7.
- 81. Sanvad H. Hvidore Hospital University of Copenhagen.
- 82. Shechter M, Kaplinsky E, Rabinowitz B. The rationale of magnesium supplementation in acute myocardial infarction. A review of the literature. Arch Int Med 1992;152:2189-2196.
- 83. Teo KK, Yusuf S. Role of magnesium in reducing mortality in acute myocardial infarction. A review of the evidence. Drugs 1993;46(3):347-359.
- 84. Lareau S, Boyle A, Deslauriers R, Koen WJ, Kroft T, Labow RS. Magnesium enhances function of postischaemic human myocardial tissue. Cardiovasc Res 1993;27:1009-1014.
- 85. Shaheen BE, Cornish LA. Magnesium in the treatment of acute myocardial infarction. Clin Pharm 1993;12(8):588-596
- 86. Zeana C, Chirulescu Z, Suciu A, Pirvulescu R, Carseli C, Zeana CC. Plasma Mg, Zn and Cu in acute myocardial infarction. 15th Symposium der Gesselschaft für Magnesium forschung September 1992.
- 87. Woods KL, Fletcher S, Roffe C, Haider Y. Leicester Intravenous Magnesium Intervention Trial (LIMIT-2): a double blind study of the use of magnesium sulphate in suspected acute myocardial infarction. Lancet 1992;339:1553-1558.
- 88. Simko F. Pathophysiological aspects of the protective effect of magnesium in myocardial infarction (review). Acta Med Hung 1994;50(1-2):55-64.
- 89. Leor J, Kloner RA. An experimental model examining the role of magnesium in the therapy of acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 1995;75(17):1292-3.
- 90. Herzog WR, Schlossberg ML, MacMurdy KS, Edenbaum LR, Gerber MJ, Vogel RA, Serebruany VL. Timing of magnesium therapy affects experimental infarct size. Circulation Nov 1995;92(9):2622-6.
- 91. Herzog WR. Effect of acute magnesium supplementation on myocardial stunning, myocardial infarct size and platelet function in a porcine model. 7th International Magnesium Symposium 1994:67.
- 92. Galland LD, Baker SM, McLellan RK. Magnesium deficiency in the pathogenesis of mitral valve prolapse. Magnesium 1986;5:165-174.
- 93. Durlach J, Durlach V. Idiopathic mitral valve and magnesium. State of the art. Magnes Bull 1986;8:156-169.
- 94. Coghlan HC, Natello G. Erythrocyte magnesium in symtomatic patients with primary mitral valve prolapse: relationship to symptoms, mitral leaflet thickness, joint hypermobility and autonomic regulation. Magnes Trace Elem 1991;10(2-4):205-214.
- 95. Kisters K, Spieker M, Tepel M, Zidek W. New data about the effects of oral physiological magnesium supplementation on several cardiovascular risk factors (lipids and blood pressure). Magnesium Res 1993;6(4):355-360.
- 96. Yamaguchi Y, Kitagawa S, Kunitomo M, Fujiwara M Preventive effects of magnesium on raised serum lipid peroxide levels and aortic cholesterol deposition in mice fed an atherogenic diet. Magnesium Res 1994;7(1):31-
- 97. Bussiere L, Mazur A, Gueux E, Nowacki W, Rayssiguier Y. Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins from magnesium-deficient rats are more susceptible to oxidation by cells and promote proliferation of cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. Magnesium Res 1995;8(2):151-158.
- 98. Rayssiguier Y. Dietary magnesium affects susceptibility of lipoproteins and tissue to peroxidation in rats. J Am Coll Nutr 1993;12(2):133-137.
- 99. Yokoyama S, Nishida HI, Smith TL, Kummerow FA. Combined effects of magnesium deficiency and an atherogenic level of low density lipoprotein by cultured human endothelial cells. Biochemical data Magnesium Res 1994;7(2):87-92.
- 100. Mahfouz MM, Zhou Q, Kummerow FA. Cholesterol oxides in plasma and lipoproteins of magnesium-deficient rabbits and effects of their lipoproteins on endothelial barrier function. Magnesium Res 1994;7(3/4):207-222.
- 101. Itoh K, Kawasaka T, Nakamura M. The effects of high oral magnesium supplementation on blood pressure, serum lipids and related variables in apparently healthy Japanese subjects. Br J Nutr. 1997 Nov;78(5):737-50.
- 102. Seelig M. Am J Cardiol 1989
- 103. Maier JAM, Nowacki W, Malpuech C, Bussiere L, Rock E, Mazur A, Rayssiguier Y. Serum from magnesium-deficient rats stimulates endothelial cell growth and enhances monocyte and macrophage adhesion. 7th International Magnesium Symposium, Lisbon, Portugal 1994:52.

- Orimo H, Han SZ, Tabata RE, Stergiopoulos K, Ouchi Y, Karaki H. Calcium channel blocking substances for prevention of atherosclerosis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1995;748:447-60.
- 105. Fleckenstein-Grun G, Fleckenstein A. Calcium-a neglected key factor in arteriosclerosis. The pathogenetic role of arterial calcium overload and its prevention by calcium antagonists. Ann Med 1991;23:589-599.
- 106. Gunther T, Vormann J, Hollriegl V, Disch G, Classen HG. Role of lipid peroxidation and vitamin E in magnesium deficiency. Magnesium Bull 1992;14:57-66.
- 107. Singal P, Kapur N, Dhillon K, Beamish R, Dhalla N. Role of free radicals in catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1982;60:1390-1397.
- 108. Weglicki WB, Stafford RE, Freedman AM, Cassidy MM, Phillips TM. Modulation of cytokines and myocardial lesions by vitamin E and chloroquine in a magnesium-deficient rat model. Am J Physiol 1993;264:C723-726.
- 109. Kramer JH, Misik V, Weglicki WB. Magnesium-deficiency potentiates free radical production associated with postischaemic injury to rat hearts: vitamin E affords protection. Free Rad Biol Med 1994;16(6):713-723.
- 110. Mills BJ, Lindeman RD, Lang CA. Magnesium deficiency inhibits biosynthesis of blood glutathione and tumour growth in rats. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1986;181:326-332.
- 111. Adams JH, Mitchell JRA. The effect of agents which modify platelet behaviour and of magnesium ions on thrombus formation in vivo. Thrombos Haemostas 1979;42:603-610.
- 112. Herrman RG, Lacefeild WB. Crowe VG. Effect of ionic calcium and magnesium on human platelet aggregation..
 Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1970;135:100-103.
- 113. Sneddon JM, Williams KI. Effect of cations on the platelet release reaction. J Physiol 1973;235:625-637.
- 114. Bilbey DL, Prabhakaran VM. Muscle cramps and magnesium deficiency: case reports. Can Fam Physician. 1996 Jul;42:1348-51.
- 115. Attygalle D, Rodrigo N. Magnesium as first line therapy in the management of tetanus: a prospective study of 40 patients. Anaesthesia. 2002 Aug;57(8):811-7.
- 116. Rossier P, van Erven S, Wade DT. The effect of magnesium oral therapy on spasticity in a patient with multiple sclerosis. Eur J Neurol. 2000 Nov;7(6):741-4.
- 117. Doley E, Burstein R, Wishnitzer R, Lubin F, Chetriet A, Shefi M, Deuster PA. Longitudinal study of magnesium status of Israeli military recruits. Magnes Trace Elem 1991-92;10:420-426.
- 118. Bhmer D. Magnesium in the sweat of athletes. 15th Symposium der Gesselschaft für Magnesium forschung September 1992.
- 119. Schindler R, et al. The role of magnesium in the generation and therapy of benign muscle cramps. Arxneimittelforschung 1998 Feb;48(2):161-6.
- 120. Zeana C, Zeana C, Radu G. Magnesium in preventing muscular cramps in swimmers. 15th Symposium der Gesselschaft für Magnesium forschung September 1992.
- 121. Gatteschi L, Galvan P, Orsi F, Rubenni MG, Resina A. Relationship between blood magnesium changes and physical performance. 15th Symposium der Gesselschaft für Magnesium forschung September 1992.
- 122. Kappes P, Nowacki P, Golf S, Graef V, Temme H, Katz N. Cardiorespiratory and metabolic performance of competitive female endurance athletes after long term magnesium supplementation in a double blind study. 15th Symposium der Gesselschaft für Magnesium forschung September 1992.
- 123. Golf SW, Bender S, Gruttner J. On the significance of magnesium in extreme physical stress. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther. 1998 Sep;12 Suppl 2:197-202.
- 124. Brilla LR, Haley TF. Effect of magnesium supplementation on strength training in humans. J Am Coll Nutr 1992;11(3):326-329.
- 125. Lukaski HC. Magnesium, zinc, and chromium nutriture and physical activity. Am J Clin Nutr. 2000 Aug;72(2 Suppl):585S-93S.
- 126. Altura BM, Altura BT. Tension headaches and muscle tension: is there a role for magnesium? Med Hypotheses. 2001 Dec;57(6):705-13.
- 127. Weaver K. Magnesium and its role in vascular reactivity and coagulation. Contemp Nutr 1987;12:1-2.
- 128. Weaver K. Magnesium and migraine: reversible hypomagnesaemic coagulative angiopathy. Hypothesis and preliminary clinical data. J Am Coll Nutr 1983;1:187-188.
- 129. Webb WL, Gehi M. Electrolyte and fluid imbalance: neuropsychiatric manifestations. Psychosomatics 1981;22:1991-1203
- 130. Anthony M. Serotonin and cyclic nucleotides in migraine. Adv Neurol 1982;33:45-49.
- 131. Olesen J. Role of calcium entry blockers in the prophylaxis of migraine. Eur Neurol 1986;25(Suppl 1):72-
- 132. Peikert A, Wilimzig C, Kohne-Volland R. Prophylaxis of migraine with oral magnesium: results from a prospective, multi-center, placebo-controlled and double-blind randomized study. Cephalalgia. 1996 Jun;16(4):257-63.
- 133. Mauskop A, Altura BM. Magnesium for Migraine: Rationale for Use and Therapeutic Potential. CNS Drugs, March 1998;9(3):185-190(6)
- 134. Facchinetti F, Sances G, Borella P, Genazzani AR, Nappi RE. Magnesium prophylaxis of menstrual migraine: effects of intracellular magnesium. Headache 1991;31:298-301.
- 135. Yunus MB, Masdi AT, Calabro JJ, Miller KA, Feigenbaum SL. Primary fibromyalgia (fibromyositis): clinical study of 50 patients with matched normal controls. Sem Arthritis Rheum 1981;11:151-171.
- 136. Romano TJ. Magnesium deficiency in fibromyalgia syndrome. J Nutr Med.
- 137. Eisinger J, Plantamura A, Marie PA, Ayavou T. Selenium and magnesium status in fibromyalgia. Magnes Res 1994;7(3-4):2858.
- 138. Abraham GE, Flechas JD. Management of fibromyalgia: rational for the use of magnesium and malic acid. J Nutr Med 1992;3:4959.

- 139. Russell IJ, Michalek JE, Flechas JD, Abraham GE. Treatment of fibromyalgia syndrome with Super Malic: a randomised, double blind, placebo-controlled, cross-over study. J Rheumol 1995;22(5):953-8.
- 140. Durlach J. Chronic fatigue syndrome and chronic primary magnesium deficiency (CFS and CPMD). Magnes Res 1992;5(1):68.
- 141. Cox IM, Campbell MJ, Dowson D. Red blood cell magnesium and chronic fatigue syndrome. Lancet 1991;337:757-760.
- 142. Takahashi H, Imai K, Katanuma A, Sugaya T, Hisano K, Motoya S, Aoki S, Sugiyama T, Yachi A. A case of chronic fatigue syndrome who showed a beneficial effect by intravenous administration of magnesium sulphate. Arerugi 1992;41(11):1605 10.
- 143. Davies S. Magnesium and chronic fatigue syndrome. Lancet 1991;337:1295.
- 144. Jacobson W; Saich T; Borysiewicz LK; Behan WM; Behan PO; Wreghitt TG. Serum folate and chronic fatigue syndrome. Neurology 1993;43(12):2645-7.
- 145. Gullestad L, Dolva LO, Soyland E, Manger AT, Falch D, Kjekshus J. Oral magnesium supplementation improves metabolic variables and muscle strength in alcoholics. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1992 Oct;16(5):986-90.
- 146. Costa M. Interactions of nickel with magnesium and chromatin: inactivation of cancer related genes by increased chromatin condensation and DNA methylation. 7th International Magnesium Symposium 1994:20.
- 147. Poirier LA. The chemopreventive effects of magnesium salts against metal carcinogenesis. 7th International Magnesium Symposium 1994:20.

NOTES

NOTES



Metagenics

A division of Health World Limited Cnr Nudgee & Toombul Rds, Northgate, Qld. Australia 4013

PO Box 675 Virginia BC, Qld. 4014

Ph: (07) 3117 3300 Fax: (07) 3117 3399

Country and Interstate 1800 777 648

www.metagenics.com.au hworld@healthworld.com.au orders@healthworld.com.au

Metagenics New Zealand Limited

PO Box 35383, Browns Bay, Auckland, New Zealand

Ph: (09) 478 2540 or 0508 227 744 Fax: (09) 478 2740 or 0508 227 733

www.metagenics.co.nz info@metagenics.co.nz



MET1617C - 04/06 - MK-MTM



